

AGREEMENT BETWEEN

Bloomfield Hills Schools Board of Education

AND

Bloomfield Hills Association of Paraeducators



August 24, 2024 through June 30, 2027

Rick West, Superintendent 7273 Wing Lake Road, Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48301

Contents

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE	2
ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE 3 - REPRESENTATION	2
ARTICLE 4 - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	2
ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	4
ARTICLE 6 - UNION RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 7 - SENIORITY	5
ARTICLE 8 - REDUCTION/RECALL/POSTING	7
ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	8
ARTICLE 10 - TRANSFER AND ASSIGNMENT	10
ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE	11
ARTICLE 12 - SPECIAL CONFERENCES	12
ARTICLE 13 - WORKING CONDITIONS AND HOURS	12
ARTICLE 14 - COMPENSABLE LEAVE DAYS	14
ARTICLE 15 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE (noncompensable)	
ARTICLE 16 - HOLIDAYS	19
ARTICLE 17 - INSURANCE BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 18 - HEALTH	27
ARTICLE 19 - RATES FOR NEW JOBS	28
ARTICLE 20 - DEFINITIONS	28
ARTICLE 21 - MILEAGE	
ARTICLE 22 - WAGES	29
ARTICLE 23 - EFFECT OF AGREEMENT	32
ARTICLE 24 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	32
ARTICLE 25 - EMERGENCY MANAGER	32

<u>ARTICLE 1 – PREAMBLE</u>

This Agreement is entered into on August 26, 2024 by the Board of Education, Bloomfield Hills Schools, County of Oakland, State of Michigan (hereinafter referred to as the "Board/Employer"), and the Bloomfield Hills Association of Paraeducators (hereinafter referred to as the "Union").

ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION

In accordance with the applicable provisions of Act 379 of the Public Acts of 1965, as amended, the School Board recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive representative for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment for the term of this Agreement for employees of the School Board included in the Bargaining Unit described below:

Paraeducator personnel in K-12 regular, transition, and special education, excluding supervisors, temporary substitute employees, special education center program staff, instructional assistants, interpreters of the hearing impaired and all other employees.

ARTICLE 3 - REPRESENTATION

A. Officer Notification

The Union will furnish the Employer with lists of its officers, representatives and stewards who have dealings between the Employer and the Union, within five (5) working days after their appointment.

B. Union Representatives

Duly authorized local representatives of the Union shall be permitted to transact official union business on school property provided that this shall not interfere with nor interrupt normal school operations.

C. Carrying Out Investigation, Initiation and Presentation of Grievances

The investigation, initiation and presentation of grievances should be conducted outside working hours. In the event a Union representative must use working hours to investigate or present a grievance, the representative shall first have the approval of the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations and the building administrator and conduct the investigation or presentation of the grievance as expeditiously and with as little interruption of work as possible.

ARTICLE 4 - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

A. Legal Obligations

The Union and Employer agree to recognize those applicable laws governing individuals in the work place.

B. Nondiscrimination

The provisions of this Agreement and the wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment shall be applied without discrimination based upon those classifications protected by applicable state and federal law. The Employer and the Union agree that an employee will not be discriminated against solely on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, transgender status, age, marital status, or disability, genetic information, or any other reason prohibited by applicable laws.

C. Personnel File

1. Review of File

Any employee will have the right, per existing law, to review the contents of their personnel and payroll file, excluding pre-employment information; and to have a Union representative present during such review. The file review will be conducted at a time mutually agreeable to the parties.

2. Response to Adverse Inclusions

Information included in the file will be in compliance with current legal standards. In the event of adverse inclusions, the employee may submit a written response concerning such inclusion, which will also be included in the file. The employee signature on file contents will confirm only that such has been reviewed by the employee.

D. Payroll Deduction

This Article shall become effective on August 1 of the year the Association notifies the Employer of its intent to implement payroll deduction of Association dues and/or political action committee (PAC) contributions.

- 1. <u>Authorization Form</u>: Any bargaining unit employee may voluntarily become a member of the Association. A member of the Association or an employee who has applied for membership may sign and deliver to the Association a signed form authorizing the payroll deduction of dues. Said authorization, if received in a hard copy signed form or an electronically signed form provided by the Association shall be accepted and processed by the Employer. The Employer shall share all authorization forms it receives directly from employees with the Association.
- 2. <u>Payroll Processing</u>: The Employer shall process payroll deduction received from the Association within 10 (ten) workdays of receipt. Such authorizations shall continue in effect from year-to-year unless revoked in writing by the member under procedures administered by the Association.
- 3. <u>Deduction Each Pay Period</u>: Pursuant to such authorization, the Employer shall deduct either one-twentieth (1/20th) for twenty pays each school year of such dues from the regular salary check of the bargaining unit member each pay-period beginning in the second paycheck of the school year and ending with the twenty-first pay. Should the Association or District err or be unable to process dues as described above, the district shall reconcile the amount owed as they would normally over the remaining pay periods.
- 4. Payroll Change Form: If the payroll deduction amounts change within the course of any school year, the Association shall provide to the Employer a payroll change form for any affected member to apply within 10 (ten) workdays of receipt to any remaining pays per the deduction schedule defined above. The Employer shall share any change of authorization forms it receives directly from employees with the Association.
- 5. <u>Unpaid Leave:</u> If an employee on a dues-deduction plan is put on an unpaid leave, the district shall notify the Association in order to administer a change of authorization process.

- 6. <u>Payment to MEA</u>: Upon receipt of authorized payroll deductions for Association dues, the Employer shall transmit these payments to the Michigan Education Association via provided ACH within ten (10) workdays of when the payroll deductions took place.
- 7. <u>Association Report</u>: Accompanying the distribution of payments will be a report indicating the specific dues amounts attributable to each employee with the employee's name, employee ID number (if applicable), payroll ID number (if different than employee ID). The Association will provide an Excel template for the ease of reporting this information. This Association-specific report shall be provided via email to the Association within the 10-day requirement as an Excel or PDF attachment.
- 8. <u>Legal Action</u>: In the event of any legal action against the Employer brought in a court or administrative agency because it complied with any section of this article, the Association agrees to defend such action, at its own expense and through its own counsel, provided:
 - a. The Employer gives timely notice of such action to the Association and permits the Association intervention as a party if it so desires and
 - b. The Employer gives full and complete cooperation to the Association and its counsel in securing and giving evidence, obtaining witnesses, and making relevant information available at both trial and appellate levels and
 - c. The Association shall have complete authority to compromise and settle all claims which it defends under this section.
 - d. The Association agrees that in any action so defended, it will indemnify and hold harmless the Employer from any liability for damages and costs imposed by a final judgment of a court or administrative agency as a direct consequence of the Employer's compliance with this Article, but this does not include any liability for unemployment compensation paid under the Michigan Employment Security Act.

ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

A. Reservation of Rights

The Board of Education, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the School District, hereby retains and reserves unto itself all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the Constitution and laws of the State of Michigan, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the rights:

- 1. To the executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties and facilities, and the activities of its employees;
- 2. To hire all employees and, subject to the provisions of law, to determine their qualifications and the condition for their continued employment, or for dismissal or demotion; and to promote and transfer all such employees;
- 3. To determine the hours of employment and the duties, responsibilities, and assignment of employees with respect thereto, and the terms and conditions of employment.

B. Exercise of Rights

The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the Board, the adoption of policies, rules, and regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited only by the terms of this agreement, and then only to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Michigan.

ARTICLE 6 - UNION RIGHTS

A. School Mails

Mail facilities in each building, including mailboxes, may be made available to the union for official business. The Board, however, shall not assume the responsibility of, or any liability for, notices posted or to be delivered for Union purposes. Notices posted shall not speak or suggest any adverse attitude or action toward anyone or the District.

B. Use of Facilities and Equipment

With the approval of the administration, the Union may have the right to use school facilities and equipment for meetings when such equipment and facilities are not otherwise in use. The Union shall pay for the cost of all materials and supplies incidental to such use and shall be responsible for proper operation of all such equipment. The use of District equipment and facilities will be subject to prior approval of the administration and within Board policy.

C. Information

The Employer will provide information to enable the Union to develop appropriate negotiation proposals as required under the law. In response to reasonable requests, the District also agrees to furnish information that will assist the Association in developing programs on behalf of the employees and information which may be necessary for the Association to process any grievance. It is understood that the foregoing shall not be construed to require the board to compile information or statistics not already compiled or to furnish a copy of any document which has not become a matter of public record.

ARTICLE 7 - SENIORITY

A. Seniority

The seniority of all employees on the seniority list shall commence with the most recent date of hire by the Board.

B. Seniority List

- 1. The seniority list will include the names, job titles, classification, and the most recent date of hire in the unit of all employees entitled to seniority.
- 2. The Board will keep the seniority list up to date and provide the Union with a current copy upon request.

C. Probationary Period

1. The first 120 workdays are probationary

The first 120 full workdays of employment shall be probationary. During the first 60 full workdays of employment, the employee shall have no temporary leave or other benefits*, except holiday

pay, per Article 16. If the employee is absent, the probationary period is extended by the number of days absent. Any other extension of the probationary period will be by mutual agreement of the Board and the Union. *However, any benefit eligibility will be in compliance with current law (e.g. The Patient Protection & Affordable Care Act).

2. <u>Leave days and other benefits begin after 60 full workdays</u>

Leave days will be available upon the satisfactory completion of 60 full workdays and may be used as provided in Article 14. Health*, dental, vision, life insurance, short term disability (STD), and long term disability (LTD) will be effective for eligible probationary employees on the first day of the month after satisfactory completion of the 60 full workdays. *However, any benefit eligibility will be in compliance with current law (e.g. The Patient Protection & Affordable Care Act)

3. <u>Seniority Status</u>

If the employee is continued in employment beyond the 120 day probationary period, the employee shall acquire the status of a seniority employee and seniority shall be established from the first day worked as a probationary employee.

4. <u>Union Representation</u>

The Union shall represent probationary employees for purposes of collective bargaining in respect to wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment. Probationary employees may be summarily discharged, and such discharge shall not be givable.

D. Loss of Seniority

Staff members shall lose seniority and be terminated from employment if any of the following occurs:

- 1. The employee is discharged, and the discharge is not reversed through the grievance procedure.
- 2. The employee is absent without notice or approval for three (3) consecutive working days.
- 3. The employee fails to respond to a recall letter within 10 working days from the date of mailing the letter to the employee's last known address in the employee's personnel file.
- 4. The employee is laid off for a period of time exceeding one year.
- 5. The employee does not return to work after a medical leave of absence or workers' compensation leave of absence within the time frame provided in Article 17 (C)(5)(e)(3) and 17 (C)(7)(f).

E. Seniority (Leaves of Absence)

Employees, while on approved compensable leave days (Article 14), short term disability (Article 17 (C)(5)(d)), or childcare (Article 15 (B)) leaves of absences, shall accumulate seniority.

F. Seniority – Leaving the Bargaining Unit for another Position in the School District

Any employee who leaves the bargaining unit for another position in the school district shall have their accrued paraeducator seniority frozen at the amount earned as of the last day worked in the bargaining unit. If the employee returns to the bargaining unit, the paraeducator seniority shall be reinstated. An

employee does not accrue bargaining unit seniority unless employed in a position covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - REDUCTION/RECALL/POSTING

A. Least senior employee by category laid off first.

In the event of a reduction in staff, the least senior person, by category, will be removed and remaining staff will be reassigned as determined by the administration.

B. 14 days' notice of lay-off

Staff to be laid off for an indefinite period of time will be given at least 14 calendar days' notice of layoff. Copies of layoff notices will be sent to the local president.

Recall

For purposes of recall, the most senior person, by category, will be recalled first. Notice of recall shall be sent to the individual at the last known address as provided by the individual and as shown on the employer's record, by registered or certified mail. If an individual fails to accept recall to work within 14 calendar days from date of mailing of notice of recall, the individual shall be terminated.

C. Initiation of reduction in staff

Reduction in staff may be initiated by the staffing need of the program or building as determined solely by the administration. Paraeducators who are affected by a reduction in staff may displace the least senior person in their category.

1. Retention based upon qualifications and then seniority

Individuals will be retained based on qualifications and then seniority within their category. Assignment to another category may be initiated subject to approval of the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations.

2. If qualified, laid off staff placed prior to new hires

Except for situations where the individual does not meet the job requirements as determined by the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations, the paraeducators on layoff will be placed prior to hiring a new person.

3. Must meet standards and be capable of performing the work

Before an assignment is made, the individual must meet the standards and be capable of performing the work without a trial period. It is understood that "capable of performing" the work includes temperament, personality and ability to work with a particular administrator, or the public, or teachers and students in a harmonious relationship. It is also understood that meeting "the standards" includes meeting the qualifications of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB), Education YES and any amendments thereto, such as Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA).

4. <u>Category definitions</u>

Category definitions are defined per Appendix A.

D. Provide employer with change of address in writing

Individuals will not be excused for failure to report for work or recall if the individual fails to receive recall notice because of their own failure to advise the Employer in writing of change of address.

E. Posting of vacancies

During the two weeks immediately before and immediately after the beginning of the school year, vacancies shall be posted at each paraeducator work site for a period of three (3) working days. Vacancies, at times other than the beginning of the school year, shall be posted at each paraeducator work site for a period of five (5) working days.

F. Number of hours worked may vary

The number of hours a paraeducator is assigned to work may change (upward or downward) from year to year and during the school year.

ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. Procedure

Any complaint by an employee concerning the application, meaning, interpretation or alleged violation of this agreement, or concerning any disciplinary action, shall constitute a grievance and shall be processed as follows.

No grievance shall be processed unless it is presented within ten (10) working days of its occurrence of the incident or knowledge of its occurrence unless such occurrence is ongoing. The time limits set forth in steps 1 and 2 may be extended by mutual consent of the parties. Further, any step in the procedure may be omitted upon mutual consent of the parties.

1. Step One

The initial presentation of any grievance shall consist of an informal discussion between the employee and immediate supervisor. At the option of the employee, representatives of the Association (2) may participate in the discussion at Step One. Other Employer representatives (2) may also participate.

If the decision is not satisfactory to the employee or the Union, the grievance shall be reduced to writing and presented to the immediate supervisor within five (5) working days of the Step One meeting. The immediate supervisor shall answer in writing within five (5) working days of receipt of the grievance.

2. Step Two

If the decision of the immediate supervisor is not satisfactory, the grievance, in writing, will be referred by the grievant to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations within ten (10) working days of receipt. A hearing date will be established within ten (10) working days.

Within ten (10) working days after the hearing or its investigation, the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations shall advise the aggrieved employee(s) and the Union of the decision in writing.

3. Pre-arbitration

Within ten (10) working days after the Step Two answer, the Union or Employer may request a pre-arbitration hearing. This meeting must be held within ten (10) working days of the request for pre-arbitration.

4. Step Three (Arbitration)

a. Referral to Arbitration

If the alleged grievance is unresolved after Step Two, the matter may be referred to arbitration. The Association may refer the matter to arbitration provided that notice to refer the matter is given to the other party within ten (10) working days from the date of the written decision at Step Two or after pre-arbitration is conducted. Within ten (10) working days after the date of the written request for arbitration, designated representatives or the Employer and the Association shall make every reasonable effort to agree upon a mutually acceptable arbitrator.

b. If Parties Unable to Agree on Arbitrator

If the parties are unable to agree on an arbitrator within the time period set forth herein, the party seeking arbitration shall file a request with the American Arbitration Association to submit a list of qualified arbitrators. The arbitrator shall then be selected according to the rules of the American Arbitration Association.

c. Arbitrator To Render Decision Within 30 Days From Close of Hearing

The Arbitrator shall hear the grievance in dispute and shall render a decision in writing within thirty (30) calendar days from the close of the hearing. The Arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon the Employer, the Association, and the employee(s) involved.

d. Authority of Arbitrator

The Arbitrator shall have no authority except to pass upon alleged violations of the expressed provisions of this Agreement and to determine disputes involving the application or interpretation of such expressed provisions. The Arbitrator shall have no power or authority to add to, subtract from, or modify any of the terms of this agreement and shall not substitute his judgment for that of the Employer where the Employer is given discretion by the terms of this Agreement or by the nature of the area in which the Employer was acting. The Arbitrator shall not render any decision which would require or permit any action in violation of the Michigan School Laws.

e. Fees and Expenses

- 1. The Arbitrator's fees and expenses shall be shared by the Employer and the Association equally. The expenses and compensation for attendance of any employee, witness, or participant in the arbitration shall be paid by the party calling such employee, witness, or requesting such participant.
- 2. Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, if a scheduled arbitration is cancelled at the request of one party, the party requesting cancellation shall pay any of the arbitrator's fees and expenses associated with the cancellation.

B. Individual Grievances

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, it is understood that any individual employee at any time shall have the right to process a grievance on their own behalf, excluding arbitration, and have the grievance adjusted, without intervention of the Association, if the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement as determined by mutual consent of the Association and Employer. The Association shall have the right to attend hearings on the matters and receive a copy of any disposition.

C. Monetary Awards

If a grievance is sustained, the aggrieved party shall be paid for financial loss, as determined in the final disposition. No claim for back wages shall exceed the amount of wages the employee would otherwise have earned at the regular rate and any wage settlement will be reduced by income earned from other sources.

ARTICLE 10 - TRANSFER AND ASSIGNMENT

A. Voluntary Transfer

Paraeducator staff may request a transfer from one building to another by applying for a posted position. The decision to grant the transfer rests solely with the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources. If more than one qualified employee is eligible to be considered for the vacancy, the following factors will be considered in the order listed:

- 1. <u>Qualifications:</u> to include demonstrated aptitude, skills, training, physical ability, ability to work effectively with students and staff.
- 2. <u>Performance:</u> The most recent performance evaluation, if applicable. Paraprofessionals with an overall rating of either Distinguished or Proficient shall be considered equal for the purpose of transfer and assignment.
- 3. <u>Seniority:</u> Seniority shall be a factor considered where an administrator cannot choose between qualified internal applicants for a vacancy.

A voluntary transfer will not be granted if such transfer would result in the employment of a new employee while a qualified employee is laid off.

If a paraprofessional is transferred to a position in a different classification, they shall remain at the same step on the new classification's wage schedule.

B. Assignment

An individual may assume a new assignment or increased hours within the same building during the school year subject to the approval of the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources. The offering of increased hours will first be offered to the employee in that position. Should that employee not wish to accept the additional increased hours, the opportunity will be posted for other interested bargaining unit members to apply.

C. Involuntary Reassignments (Permanent)

Involuntary individual reassignments shall not take place without prior discussion with the affected employee, in which any objections to the assignment by the employee shall be considered. If the employee objects to the reassignment, they shall have the right to a full review of the case by the Local President, BHOPPA's Executive Director, the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and a second administrator.

If paraprofessional positions or a program is being reduced or altered in a way that results in numerous (more than one) transfers, the District will share such changes with the Association and provide a preference survey to each affected employee before the end of the preceding school year. The District will strongly consider each request and shall consider seniority and relevant qualifications in determining placement.

D. Placement and Assignment:

To the best extent possible, the Paraprofessional shall receive tentative placement assignments, which included building location and position, by July 1st for the following school year.

ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE AND DISCIPLINE

A. Notice of Complaint, Discipline, Discharge, or Suspension

If an employee is disciplined, discharged, or suspended, the Board will promptly notify the local president or designee of such action.

Disciplinary actions will be for just cause.

Employees will be notified of formal complaints against them if placed in their personnel file. The employee shall have the opportunity to provide a written rebuttal attached to the complaint or discipline.

B. Discussion of Discipline, Discharge, or Suspension

Upon request, the Board or its designated representative will discuss the discharge or suspension with the employee and the Union. The Board, likewise, will discuss written reprimands with the employee and the Union upon request. An employee shall be entitled to have present a representative of the Union during meetings concerning disciplinary action. When a request for such representation is made, no meeting will be conducted with respect to the employee until such representative of the Union is present. The Association representative and the Board or its designated representative shall arrange a meeting date and/or time at the earliest possible convenience for both parties. In no way shall this language be interpreted as to limit the Board's process of investigation.

C. Appeal of Discipline, Discharge, or Suspension

Should the disciplined, discharged or suspended employee or the Union consider the discharge or suspension to be improper, a complaint shall be presented in writing. The matter shall be referred to Step Two of the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 12 - SPECIAL CONFERENCES

A. "Special Conferences" are established

There shall be established under this Article a closed forum, hereinafter called "Special Conferences," for the purpose of improving Employer/Employee relationships. It is understood by the parties, however, that the Special Conferences are not to be construed or utilized as a grievance or "gripe" session. It is to be utilized solely as a constructive basis for important matters. It is not to be considered as negotiations, except as provided elsewhere in this Agreement.

B. Arrangements for special conferences

Special Conferences will be arranged between the Local President and the Employer or its designated representatives by mutual consent of the parties. Such conferences shall be between two or three representatives of the Employer and two or three representatives of the Union. Arrangements for the conference shall be made in advance, and a written agenda of the matters to be taken up shall be presented at the time the conference is requested. The names of the people to be present shall be submitted prior to the conference. Matters taken up at Special Conferences shall be confined to those included in the agenda. An employee shall not lose time or pay for time spent in a Special Conference during the regular workday.

C. Union may meet prior to special conferences

The representatives of the Union may meet at a place designated by the Employer on the Employer's premises for at least one-half hour (but not to exceed one hour) immediately preceding the special conference.

ARTICLE 13 – WORKING CONDITIONS AND HOURS

A. Shift Hours

Shift hours will be determined by the Employer, and each shift will consist of up to eight (8) consecutive hours excluding a thirty-minute (30) unpaid lunch period.

B. Additional Days

Work beyond that normally scheduled may only be initiated with the prior approval of the building principal.

C. Overtime

Overtime will be paid at the rate of time and one-half for work over forty (40) hours per week. Overtime will be paid in compliance with the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Upon mutual agreement of the parties, compensable time at the earning rates defined above may be taken in lieu of the hourly rate.

D. Welcome Back Day Activities

If the employer schedules "Welcome Back Day" activities, an employee will be paid for attendance at Welcome Back Day activities in the building, provided the employee participates in such activities.

E. Professional Development

1. The District shall provide a program of professional development opportunities for paraeducators each school year. A Minimum of 10 hours of District provided professional development will be provided on Welcome Back days prior to the commencement of student days.

If the District determines that no Welcome Back Days will be held, professional development will be scheduled on other non-student days, including ½ days.

This professional development will be provided by the District. Paraeducators attending professional development will be paid at their regular hourly rate.

- 2. An additional seven (7) hours of professional development will be made available to all paraeducators during the school year. This professional development may be made available to all paraprofessionals or to a group in a specific classification as long as all paraprofessionals are offered at least (7) hours of PD.
- 3. The Association and District will establish a committee to discuss topics for the bargaining unit's professional development program.
- 4. To the best extent possible, a professional development calendar shall be provided before September 30th of each school year.
- 5. Professional development opportunities may include:
 - a) Participation in all professional development provided to the teaching staff regarding the implementation of new, revised or updated curriculum or technologies in the district
 - b) Student management
 - c) Special Education
 - d) CPI and/or De-escalation Training
 - e) Such further issues found appropriate by the parties
- 6. Any professional development attended outside the regular school is not required, unless otherwise agreed to be the Association and the District. Paras will be paid their regular rate for this time.
- 7. Building administration shall invite support staff to any after-school PD where appropriate and pay those support staff who attend.
- 8. Each year, paraeducators will be required to complete a yearly online training. The training will consist of compliance videos (CPR, First Aid, etc) and may include additional topics (Student management, de-escalation techniques, etc). The videos will be housed on the District's online professional development portal, currently Vector Solutions. The videos will be no more than 2 hours and 45 minutes in length. The videos must be completed by the end of business hours on October 31 of each year. Paraeducators will receive 3 hours of pay for completing the videos. The pay will be attached to the PM of the October 31 half day.

ARTICLE 14 - COMPENSABLE LEAVE DAYS

A. Definition

Paid for leave time will be provided in order to protect the employee's income during periods of unavoidable absence. The Board's primary concern is for periods of personal illness; however, in appropriate circumstances, compensable days for family illness, bereavement, emergencies, and personal business constitute legitimate usage.

B. Accumulation

Each employee, upon satisfactory completion of sixty full workdays, shall be entitled to a current leave day earning at the rate of one day per month of employment service. Leave days for the current year shall be placed at the disposal of each employee who has completed the sixty full workdays on July 1st and will be made available to the employee, on a pro rata basis, upon completion of the sixty workdays. Unused leave at the end of the school year shall be accumulated to a maximum of one hundred (100) days for tenmonth employees.

The value of the leave day is based on the number of hours the employee is scheduled to work when the leave day is used.

1. Severance

Upon severance of employment after five (5) years' service, for reasons of death, retirement, or quit with proper notice of not less than two weeks, but not an employee who quits without notice or is discharged, a severance payment for each unused leave day, up to a maximum of 100 days, will be made by the Board of Education as defined in the schedule described below:

5 years through 10 years	40%
11 years through 20 years	60%
21 years through 30 years	70%
31 years, plus	80%

The value of the leave day is based on the number of regularly scheduled hours immediately preceding the payout.

2. Leaving the Bargaining Unit for another Position in the School District

An employee who leaves the bargaining unit for another position in the school district has the option of:

- a. Receiving any earned severance benefit as provided by this article, or
- b. Having any earned leave days transferred to the employee's leave bank in his/her new position in the school district.
- c. Seniority is determined by the number of years in the bargaining unit.

C. Use of Leave Days

Leave days may be used, in accordance with the following schedule and the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) procedures outlined in Appendix C. For all absences, the employee is required to notify the school administration upon first knowledge of the necessity for the absence. It is agreed that the use of leave days will be confined to the legitimate purposes specified as follows:

- 1. <u>Personal Illness:</u> Bona Fide involuntary physical incapacity to report for and discharge duties. It is understood that an employee may be required to provide a physician's certificate in cases of illness.
- 2. <u>Family Illness</u>: Immediate family is defined as an employee's spouse, children, or parents. Up to twelve (12) leave days per year may be used for this purpose. While on an approved Family Medical Leave, up to sixty (60) days per year may be used for illness in the immediate family. Any use of remaining leave days to care for a serious illness of a family member must receive prior approval from the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources. See Appendix D for FMLA procedures.
- 3. <u>Bereavement:</u> Up to three (3) days will be approved for death in the immediate or secondary family. Additional paid days will be approved dependent on family relationships, circumstances, and/or travel involved as determined by the Human Resources Department provided such additional leave days are available in the current or accumulated leave bank.

An employee's immediate family shall include spouse, parents, children, or persons living in the employee's household. Secondary family is considered to include the employee's grandparents, brothers, sisters, aunts and uncles.

- 4. <u>Personal Leave:</u> Up to two (2) days per year from current leave days may be used for personal leave. Personal leave, in all cases except unforeseen emergencies, requires at least two (2) days advance notice to, and approval of the immediate supervisor. Personal leave cannot be utilized the day before or immediately following a holiday, vacation, recess at the beginning or ending of the school year, or to extend vacations. Approval for the use of such days may be granted for special circumstances, if approved by the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations.
- 5. <u>Religious Holidays:</u> Up to two (2) days per year from current leave days may be used for observance of religious holidays.
- 6. <u>Special Leave:</u> Special Leave is for important and urgent matters that cannot be handled outside school hours or scheduled at any other time. The granting of special leave days is at the sole discretion of the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.

D. Use of Accumulated Leave Bank

1. Illness or Bereavement

The employee's accumulated leave bank shall be available for use only for the reasons of personal illness or bereavement, and illness in the family as defined above.

2. One Personal Leave Day from Bank

An employee may use one personal leave day from the accumulated leave bank if the current leave is depleted and no days have been used for personal leave from the current leave bank.

E. Leave Day Provisions

1. Abuse of Leave Days

Abuse of temporary leave shall be subject to one or more warnings, to suspension and/or dismissal. All salary and fringe benefits of the employee are subject to being waived during the abused leave.

2. Interruption of Service

In the event that the service of an employee is interrupted by reason of discharge, termination, suspension, or leave, and said employee has utilized more leave days than have been accumulated on the monthly basis, then the value of the excess paid-for leave days shall be deducted from last paycheck due the employee at the time of interruption.

F. Extended Medical Leaves of Absence

The employee, upon learning of the need for an extended medical leave of absence, must notify the Human Resources Department (Benefits Coordinator). The required leave forms will then be forwarded to the employee. The employee and the physician must complete the forms verifying the estimated date the leave will commence, and the employee's ability to continue employment prior to the leave. Statements from the employee's physician will be provided by the employee to the Human Resources Department on a monthly basis, on the district's form, regarding the employee's ability to continue employment prior to the leave. An employee who desires to remain on the job must maintain a satisfactory attendance record and must provide verification from the physician of ability to perform the functions of the job. If the conditions are not met, administration will initiate the leave. The extended medical leave (or short term disability leave) shall begin as soon as the physician completes the appropriate forms certifying the employee is unable to perform the functions of the job. See Article 18(C)(3)(d) for the short term disability provisions.

G. Jury Duty

1. Notify Human Resources Office

Employees who are summoned for jury duty must notify the Human Resources Office within twenty-four (24) hours of receipt of such notice. If the employee then reports for jury duty, the employee shall receive jury duty pay. On release from jury duty, if the employee has sixty (60) minutes or more remaining on the employee's regular shift, the employee shall report to work provided however, the employee's building administrator or supervisor may release the employee for the remainder of the workday. Jury duty pay is the regular daily wage for each day on which the individual reports for or performs jury duty and on which the employee would otherwise have been scheduled to work. Time spent on jury duty shall not be charged against leave days.

2. Jury Duty Pay

To be eligible for jury duty pay, the employee must furnish the Human Resources office with written verification from the appropriate public official listing amounts of pay received, the days on jury duty, and a check for the full amount of the jury fee paid, excluding any travel allowance paid to the employee by the court. This payment by the employee shall be made to the Human Resources Department no later than two (2) weeks after the return from jury duty. Any employee found abusing this privilege shall not be entitled to the pay differential.

H. School Closing

On any day when school sessions are scheduled but that schedule is canceled by the Superintendent due to weather or other conditions, and this official closing is announced on radio and television stations or through a program established by the administration, employees will not report for work. Other conditions include, but are not limited to, loss of power, heat, water, or safety issues.

- 1. When school sessions are canceled due to inclement weather or other conditions, paraeducators will not be required to report to their job assignments and shall suffer no loss of pay. Paraeducators will not be compensated for any closed days which exceed the number of allowable forgiven days as identified by the MDE Pupil Accounting Manual. In such cases, a paraeducator may elect to use a current leave day to avoid an unpaid day. Should the District be required to add days to the school calendar, paraeducators will be compensated for additional days worked.
- 2. In the event a facility must be shut down after an individual's scheduled start time and after the employee has reported to work, the employee may be released from work upon the supervisor's direction, with no loss of pay or leave day for the remainder of the day. In such circumstances only, if the supervisor wishes to assign the employee to another location in the district which is not shut down, the supervisor must meet with the employee to explain their reason for doing so. The employee may offer a request to be released. If the supervisor accepts this request, the employee shall be dismissed without loss of pay or a leave day.

I. Leave for Union Business

A maximum of eight (8) days per year, not for consecutive use, may be used for the conduct of union business and to include MEA sponsored New Leader Training/Professional Development. The use of these days will be considered only when the operation can be continued with no interruption and is finally contingent on the approval of the immediate supervisor. These days will not be used in combination with other leave days or vacation.

ARTICLE 15 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE (non-compensable)

A. Family and Medical Leave Act

Basic Leave Entitlement: Bloomfield Hills Schools' Family and Medical Leave Policy allows eligible employees to take up to twelve (12) work weeks of unpaid leave per year for their own serious health condition, childbirth, or to provide care for the employee's newborn child, newly adopted child, newly placed foster child, or a child, parent or spouse with a serious health condition. Further, certain eligible employees may receive up to twelve (12) work weeks of unpaid leave for military exigencies, and up to a total of twenty-six (26) work weeks of unpaid leave to care for a covered military service member.

Appendix D to the contract contains the regulation applicable to FMLA leave.

B. Child Care Leave

1. Non-Paid Leave

Childcare leave shall be considered a non-paid leave. The unpaid childcare leave of absence will be granted for a maximum of one year (12 months). FMLA leave for the birth of a child or for placement of adoption or foster care must conclude within twelve (12) months of the birth or placement.

2. Return from Leave

An individual desiring to return from leave shall notify Human Resources, in writing, and provide the appropriate personnel form approving the return to work and indicating that the employee is able to perform the functions of the position. Such notice shall be provided no less than fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the desired return date. Provided the leave does not extend beyond the number of weeks for which the employee is eligible under the FMLA, reinstatement shall be to the same or a comparable position and one for which the individual is qualified.

3. Return from Leave Exceeding FMLA Eligibility Amount

If the leave exceeds the amount of leave an employee is eligible for under FMLA, the return to work is contingent upon a vacancy being available for which the individual is qualified. There shall be no layoff to provide a vacancy.

4. <u>Adoption or Paternity</u>

In accordance with this section, a twelve (12) month unpaid leave of absence is available in cases of adoption or paternity. The leave of absence in such cases shall commence on the date of placement for adoption or birth of the child.

C. Military Leave

Reinstatement from Military Leave

Any employee who enters into active service of the Armed Forces of the United States and, upon the termination of such honorable service, shall be offered re-employment, provided the individual reports for work within ninety (90) days after discharge. Employment may be in the previous position held or a similar position of like status and pay, unless the circumstances have changed as to make it impossible or totally unreasonable to do so. In this event, the individual will be offered employment in line with seniority as may be available, and which the individual is capable of doing.

A probationary employee who enters the Armed Forces and meets the foregoing requirement must complete the probationary period and, upon successfully completing it, will have seniority equal to the time spent in the Armed Forces.

D. General Leave

General leave may be permitted for important matters. General leave days, however, will be at the sole discretion of the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources. This provision shall not be to the grievance procedure.

E. Conditions for Return from Leave

- 1. An employee released by a physician for return to work will be assigned to the first vacancy for which the individual is qualified. Should no vacant position exist, the employee will be considered as unassigned staff until a vacancy occurs.
- 2. The Board of Education reserves the right to have any employee returning from a leave of absence examined by a Board-appointed physician to verify their ability to return with no limitations.
- 3. An employee who is on a leave of absence, and doesn't return upon the expiration of the leave, will be considered a termination.

ARTICLE 16 - HOLIDAYS

A. Eligibility for Holiday Pay

A maximum of nine (9) paid holidays per year will be granted to each employee. To be eligible for holiday pay, the employee must work the scheduled hours on the working days immediately previous to and following the holiday, except where the employee has received permission from the Superintendent or designee in advance or is on a compensable leave as defined in Article 14 of this Agreement.

Holiday pay will be based on the employee's hourly rate and regular workday (not to exceed eight (8) hours) immediately previous to the holiday.

B. The following days will be celebrated as paid holidays:

New Year's Day Thanksgiving

Good Friday Friday following Thanksgiving

Memorial Day Christmas Eve *Labor Day Christmas

New Year's Eve

If the Board of Education recognizes Martin Luther King Jr. Day as a Holiday or District declares the day as a paid holiday, paraprofessionals shall likewise receive the paid holiday.

When one of the enumerated holidays falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the employee will be provided an alternative paid leave day. The holiday work calendar will be determined by the employer.

C. Employees not scheduled to work on the holiday

For employees who are not scheduled to work on the day of a designated holiday, the following shall occur:

1. Employees Scheduled Less than Five Days

Holiday pay for employees who are scheduled less than five days per week will be equal to their scheduled hours per day should the holiday fall on a day they are regularly scheduled to work.

2. Employees Not Normally Scheduled to Work on Day of Holiday

Employees who are not normally scheduled on the working day on which the holiday falls will receive a holiday pay equal to the total hours they are regularly scheduled per week divided by five.

D. Floating Holiday

Each employee shall receive one floating holiday per year. Use of the day is subject to the following provisions:

- 1. The day may only be taken at a time when school is not in session. If the day is not utilized by June 30, it will not be carried over to the next school year and will be forfeited.
- 2. New employees shall be eligible for the floating holiday on the July 1 immediately following employment in the bargaining unit.

3. Requests to use the floating holiday shall be made and approved in advance through an AESOP attendance entry, indicating Floating Holiday as the absence reason. Use of the day is subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor.

ARTICLE 17 - INSURANCE BENEFITS

A. Benefit Eligibility

1. Compliance with insurance company regulations

The Board shall provide a cafeteria benefit plan (*Educated Choices*) that includes coverages and benefits defined in this Article for eligible employees. Employees must fully comply with insurance company regulations regarding qualification for benefits in order to receive benefits.

2. Commencement and duration of coverage

Commencement and duration of coverage, nature and amount of benefits, and all other aspects of coverage shall be as set forth in the group policy and the rules and regulations of the carrier. The Employer's only responsibility shall be payment of the premiums for the benefits specified in this Article.

An employee will be eligible for insurance benefits upon satisfactory completion of sixty (60) full working days or satisfies current law for benefit eligibility (e.g. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, (PPACA)). The coverage for eligible employees shall be effective the first day of the month following completion of the sixty (60) full working days (subject to PPACA). Coverage shall remain in effect for the duration of this agreement as long as the paraeducator is actively employed by the Board. Benefits shall terminate at the end of the month in which the employee last works or exhausts Family and Medical Leave Act leave.

B. Duplication of Hospital/Medical Coverage Permitted While District is Self-Insured

1. Duplication of hospitalization insurance is permitted as long as the District is self-insured. The employee must notify the Human Resources Department of any personal hospitalization coverage or coverage from spouse's hospitalization insurance plan.

2. If District Not Self Insured

In the event the District is no longer self-insured, duplication of medical/hospitalization insurance will not be permitted. The Human Resources Department will notify employees, in writing, if the District is no longer self-insured. In that event, employees shall not knowingly cause the Board to provide medical/hospitalization insurance coverage that is a duplication of such coverage already held by the employee. The Union shall encourage employees to abide by this policy and shall assist the Board in its enforcement.

C. Cafeteria Benefit Plan - Educated Choices Group Coverage

1. Publicly Funded Health Contribution Act

The Publicly Funded Health Contribution Act (Public Act 152 of 2011) provides that the District shall pay no more than the annual cost or illustrative rate for a medical benefit plan for employees (including any payments for reimbursement of co-pays, deductibles, or payments into health savings accounts, flexible spending accounts, or similar accounts used for health care costs ("the Additional Payments") than the "hard cap amounts" which are adjusted annually by the State treasurer by October 1 of each

year for the following plan year which begins on January 1). If the District payment for the annual cost or illustrative rates for medical benefit plans offered by the District to employees (including any Additional Payments) exceed the "hard cap" maximums established by the State treasurer, employees will be required to pay the amount over the hard cap by payroll deduction. The District will discuss such deduction with the Union prior to implementation. If the District payment for the annual cost or illustrative rates for medical benefit plans offered by the District to employees (including any Additional Payments) are less than the "hard cap" maximums, the District will contribute to the employee's Health Savings Account (HSA) or be paid a hard cap differential if they do not qualify for the HAS according to the formula in (C)(2)(d) of this article. In no event shall this Section be interpreted to require the district to make a payment which would cause it to violate the Publicly Funded Health Insurance Contribution Act.

2. Coverage for Paraeducators Who Work 30 or More Hours per Week

The District will provide a Cafeteria Benefit plan which will encompass all fringe benefits and will include the following options for paraeducators who work 30 or more hours per week, and who make proper application to participate in the Bloomfield Hills Schools Flexible Benefits Plan.

The District will offer, either by self-insurance or a policy of insurance, the following group medical coverage options to each eligible paraeducator.

- a) *Preferred Provider Organization (PPO), High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) with a Health Savings Account (HSA) \$3000/0% (See appendix B for a summary of the benefits).
- b) *Preferred Provider Organization (PPO), High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) with a Health Savings Account (HSA)-\$2000/0% (See appendix B for a summary of the benefits).
- c) *Health Maintenance Organization (HMO), High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) with a Health Saving Account (HSA) Minimum deductible to qualify as HDHP/0% (except as noted in the plan document). The Prescription drug coverage for the HMO plan is summarized in Appendix B and is provided for informational purposes only. (See Appendix B for a summary of the benefits).
- d) Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) High Deductible Plan (HDHP) with a Health Savings Account (HAS) \$3000/0%,
- *Please refer to the coverage summary in Appendix B for additional information. Appendix B is provided for information only and is not part of the contract.

Annually, the District will review illustrated rates to determine plan costs and consult with the Association regarding potential plan changes,

e) PPO/HDPP/HSA Prescription Drug Coverage – Triple Tier Copayment

The PPO/HDPP/HSA prescription drug benefits, including mail order drugs, are subject to the <u>same</u> deductible and <u>same</u> annual co-insurance/copay dollar maximums as the HSA medical coverage. Benefits are not payable until the annual deductible has been met. After the deductible has been satisfied, the applicable copays apply.

Copayments are based on the type of drug obtained. The co-payment is \$5 for generic; \$25 for formulary (preferred) brand; \$50 for non-formulary (non-preferred) brand.

Please refer to the prescription drug coverage summary in Appendix B for additional information. Appendix B is provided for informational purposes only and is not part of the contract.

f) Health Savings Accounts / Flexible Spending Accounts

Employees who are enrolled in the group medical coverage described above and who are otherwise eligible to make and receive Health Savings Account (HSA) contributions may make contributions to a Health Savings Account (HSA) through the Bloomfield Hills Schools Flexible Benefits Plan.

Employees not enrolled in a Health Savings Account may elect to contribute to a Flexible Spending Account. Employees must meet the legal requirements to enroll in a Flexible Spending Account.

The District shall subtract the chosen plan premium from the hard cap amount to determine the District-paid HAS contributions. This amount will be prorated for coverage for less than a full calendar year. However, no contribution will be made by the school district if the contribution would make the District out of compliance with Public Act 152 of 2011.

g) <u>District Contribution to Employee Health Savings Accounts (HSA)</u>

The District shall subtract the chosen plan premium from the hard cap amount to determine the District-paid HAS contributions. The amount will be prorated for coverage for less than a full Calendar year. However, no contribution would make the District out of compliance with Public Act 152 of 2011.

h) Other Factors

The combined employee and District HSA contributions shall not exceed the annual calendar year limits established by the IRS for such contributions. See IRS Publication 969 for eligibility.

Employees who have mid-plan year life status changes will have their HSA employer paid contribution prorated by 12 months, provided they are eligible to participate in the HSA plan.

Those employees who are not eligible to participate in an HSA due to IRS established age restrictions, currently age 65 and over, or employees who do not elect to participate in an HSA as a hard cap differential to be paid over 20 pays.

i) <u>Proration of District Contribution to Health Savings Account</u>

If an Employee, after the start of the Plan Year, modifies his/her election to receive medical/hospitalization coverage from two person or full family to single coverage, the District may deduct from the Employee's pay, following the coverage modification election, in one or more installments, an amount equal to the difference between District HSA contribution for single coverage associated with any period in which the Employee was covered by single coverage.

Employees who elect, after the start of the Plan Year, to receive medical/hospitalization coverage under the District's High Deductible Health Plan, and to receive the District Health Savings Account contribution, due to a mid-plan year change in family status, a mid-plan year court order,

or a mid-plan year change in eligibility for Medicaid or CHIP), will receive a prorated District HSA contribution based on the ratio of the number of months of the Plan Year in which they participate in the District's HDHP, divided by 12 months, provided that they are otherwise eligible to receive HSA contributions.

- 3. The following terms and features also apply to the group medical coverage provided by the District:
 - a) Employee Contribution toward Health Care

Each employee electing health insurance coverage shall make the following annual pre-tax contribution toward the cost of health care. The amount will be prorated if the employee does not work a full plan year:

Single	\$500
Two-Person	\$1000
Full Family	\$1000

- b) Health Risk Assessment/Rebate
 - 1. <u>Health Risk Assessment</u>: Employees (and their spouses, if applicable) are expected to participate in an annual health risk assessment with his/her health care provider.

The Health Risk Assessment form will be available from the Human Resources Department.

2. Rebate of Pre-tax Contribution: Employees and their spouses (if applicable) who participate in the annual health risk assessment (HRA) are eligible to receive a rebate of the full amount of the employee pre-tax contribution provided in subparagraph C(3)(a) above. Eligibility for the rebate is based upon receipt by the Human Resources Department of the completed health risk assessment form by September 15. If September 15 falls on a weekend, the following Monday will be the due date. The same Health Risk Assessment form may not be used for two consecutive plan years.

Forms received after the due date will not qualify the employee for the rebate. <u>There will be no exceptions</u>. In the event of two person or full family coverage, where only one adult participates in the annual health risk assessment, the rebate will be reduced by 50%. Single member households with dependent children will be rebated at 100%.

c) <u>Cash Payment in Lieu of Medical/Hospitalization Insurance</u> The District will provide a Cash in Lieu of Health coverage option under the Bloomfield Hills Schools Flexible Benefits Plan for each full plan year for those employees who are eligible for but do not elect the employer-provided medical/hospitalization coverage. The co-payment will be prorated if the employee does not work a full plan year. Staff who do not have medical/hospitalization coverage from another source are not eligible for this benefit.

Single Opt Out	\$600
Two-Person Opt Out	\$1000
Full Family Opt Out	\$1000

d) Dental Coverage

Classes I, II, and III which includes preventive basic care and prosthetics, a dental plan of Class I - 100%, Class II - 100%, and Class III - 70%, with a maximum per person per year of \$1,250. Class IV will be covered at 60% with a \$1,000 per person lifetime maximum. The percentage of reimbursement for dental care will be in accordance with the coverage schedule provided by the carrier and outlined in the *Educated Choices* Workbook. Employees may purchase, with pre-tax dollars, two person or full family dental coverage through the Cafeteria Benefit Plan.

It is agreed and understood that the Board of Education reserves the right to change carriers or to self-insure.

e) <u>Vision</u>

The plan shall provide for services including an annual examination, lenses, with a \$150 allowance on frames or contact lenses and exam, premised on a co-pay program with established reasonable and customary fee limitations. Employees may purchase, with pre-tax dollars, two person or full family vision coverage through the Cafeteria Benefit Plan.

Carrier selection shall remain the prerogative of the District and coverage provisions indicated above may vary but will be comparable to the above.

4. Flexible Benefits Plan

The District will provide a cafeteria plan or flexible benefits plan which will permit pre-tax premium copayments for all fringe benefits which constitute "qualified benefits" permitted by the IRS to be offered on a pre-tax basis through a cafeteria plan. The plan will also permit eligible employees to choose between group medical coverage and the Cash Payment in Lieu of Medical/Hospitalization Insurance described in Section 2(a) &(b) above and permit employee and employer Health Savings Account contributions, subject to applicable tax requirements.

5. Coverage For Paraeducators Who Work Twenty-five (25) or More Hours Per Week

For each paraeducator who works twenty-five (25) hours or more per week, the Employer will pay the premium for the following: life insurance, short term disability coverage, and long term disability insurance.

- a. Life <u>Insurance</u>: The Employer shall pay the premium for a life insurance and accident and dismemberment policy for each employee. The life insurance policy shall pay the employee's designated beneficiary the sum of \$45,000 upon death with a provision for double indemnity in the event of accidental death.
- b. Additional Life Insurance: Each staff member will have the option to purchase additional life insurance with pre-tax dollars, to a maximum of \$300,000 (if permitted by the insurance company) at the beginning of each Flex Election period. Any amount in excess of \$50,000 will be considered as additional imputed income in compliance with current IRS regulations. Evidence of insurability will be required after the initial enrollment period. (The ability to purchase additional life insurance with pre-tax dollars will remain in effect as long as the IRS permits such purchase).

c. <u>Dependent Life Insurance</u>: Each staff member will have the option to purchase life insurance for their spouse and/or dependents with after-tax dollars at the beginning of each Flex Election period. The coverage shall be offered in the amount of \$5,000 and \$10,000. Evidence of insurability will be required after the initial enrollment period.

d. Short Term Disability

For each employee who has satisfactorily completed sixty (60) working days, the following short term disability (STD) coverage will be provided:

- 1. <u>Benefit</u>: For off-the-job sickness and accident, after a ten (10) workday waiting period, the employee will be paid:
 - (a) Up to thirty (30) workdays at 75% of the employee's current wages;
 - (b) Up to an additional 210 workdays at 60% of the employee's current wages, not to exceed the number of scheduled workdays or twelve-month period.
 - (c) Those individuals who have more than ten (10) earned leave days may elect to use a minimum of ten (10) days or all available earned days prior to temporary disability coverage being initiated. Individuals who elect to maintain those days in excess of ten (10) will have access to unused leave days upon the return from leave.

e. <u>Long Term Disability</u>

- 1. <u>Benefit</u>: Such disability insurance shall provide benefit of 66 2/3% of the monthly earnings up to a maximum payment of \$1,500.00 per month to the employee who is unable to work due to extended sickness or injury. The benefits of this plan shall commence after twelve (12) months of such sickness or injury and shall be payable until the employee returns to work, reaches age 65, or is deceased, whichever comes first. For the purposes of the long term disability coverage, monthly earnings shall be the employee's regular salary divided by 12.
- 2. Offset: The amount received from the insurance company will be reduced by any primary remuneration received, or for which the employee is eligible, during the benefit period from the employer, the Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement Fund, the Federal Social Security Act (both primary and dependent), the Railroad Retirement Act, Veteran's Benefits or other such pensions.
- 3. <u>Separation from Employment:</u> On the date an employee commences long term disability leave, the employee's position will no longer be held open for the employee. However, if the employee is medically able to return to work within one year of the date of the commencement of the long term disability leave, the employee will be given consideration for placement in a vacant paraeducator position for which the employee is qualified. Seniority does not accrue during long term disability leave. The Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations will determine whether an employee is qualified for a vacant position. The employee must supply a physician's authorization permitting the employee to return to work and may be required to have a return-to-work examination by

a physician or medical facility designated by the District. If the employee's physician and the district's physician or medical facility do not agree that the employee is medically able to return to work, an independent physician or medical facility, paid by the District, may examine the employee, and this decision will be final. This paragraph does not apply to an employee who retires.

If the employee does not return to work within one year from the commencement of the leave, the employee will be separated from employment with Bloomfield Hills Schools.

6. Flexible Spending Account - Educated Choices

The option to enroll in a flexible spending account is available to every employee who is regularly scheduled to work 20 hours or more per week. In accordance with Internal Revenue Service regulations, any staff member who is eligible to receive cash payment in lieu of hospitalization insurance must enroll in the flexible spending account in order to receive this benefit.

a. Health Care Reimbursement Account

Eligible employees will have the option to participate in a pre-tax Health Care Reimbursement Account as defined by the Internal Revenue Service and as outlined in the *Educated Choices* Workbook.

b. Dependent Care Reimbursement Account

Eligible employees will have the option to participate in a pre-tax Dependent Care Reimbursement Account as defined by the Internal Revenue Service and as outlined in the *Educated Choices* Workbook.

7. <u>Worker's Disability Compensation</u> (Available to all employees)

- a. <u>Benefit:</u> In the event an employee is absent from work due to a job-related accident, the employee will be paid, for a period not to exceed 120 days from the date of the accident, the difference between the employee's full salary and such monies as may be received from Worker's Disability Compensation benefits (loss-of-time benefits.)
- b. <u>No Leave Days Charged:</u> It is understood that no leave days shall be charged for absences related to a compensable job-related accident during the 120-day period defined above.
- c. <u>No Eligibility for Short Term Disability:</u> Should the employee continue to be off work beyond a period of 120 days, the employee shall not then be eligible for short term disability benefits under Article 17. After the 120-day period, current and bank days may be used, per Article 14. No District supplement will be made after 120 days, as defined above.
- d. <u>Doctor Visits:</u> Any employee required to go to the doctor as a result of an on-the-job accident will be paid for such workday without such time being charged against leave days unless such injury was caused by horseplay or negligence of the involved employee. It is understood that visits other than the initial one at the time of the accident will be scheduled at times other than when the employee is scheduled to work unless approved by the immediate supervisor.

- e. <u>Benefits Beyond One-Year:</u> Any benefits beyond one year shall be payable only under the terms of Worker's Disability Compensation Act and Long Term Disability Insurance Coverage of the District, provided under Article 18.
- f. Separation from Employment: If an employee on Workers' Disability Compensation leave does not return to work upon the conclusion of one calendar year from the date of the commencement of the leave, the employee's position will not be held open for the employee. However, if the employee is medically able to return to work within two years of the date of the commencement of the workers' compensation leave, the employee will be given consideration for placement in a vacant paraeducator position for which the employee is qualified. The Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations will determine whether the employee is qualified for a vacant position. The employee must supply a physician's authorization permitting the employee to return to work and may be required to have a return-to-work examination by a physician for medical facility designated by the District. If the employee's physician and the district's physician do not agree that the employee is medically able to return to work, an independent physical or medical facility paid by the District may examine the employee, and this decision will be final. If the employee retires during this period, this paragraph does not apply.

If the employee does not return to work within two years of the date of the commencement of the leave, the employee will be separated from employment with Bloomfield Hills Schools.

ARTICLE 18 – HEALTH & SAFETY

A. Medical Health

To provide continuing health and safety protection for students and school personnel, employees shall provide health certificates and submit to physical examinations as follows:

- 1. At the time of hiring, each employee shall attest they are able to fulfill the assigned duties and, if required by the Board, that they are free from active tuberculosis and other communicable diseases.
- 2. If required by the Board, as a condition of continued employment, each employee shall be required to file the results of a chest x-ray examination or the tuberculin skin test showing negative results. The results of the test must be filed with the Human Resources Department.
- 3. The employer may require that an individual have medical or psychological examinations by a physician of its choice. In the event that an examination is required, the expense for the examination will be paid by the Board of Education.

B. Health and Safety

- 1. <u>Legal Guidelines</u>: The district shall follow local, state, and federal guidelines relative to health, safety, and working conditions to the best extent possible. Employees will not be expected to work in conditions that violate the safety protocols set forth in all applicable county, state, or federal health or safety guidelines.
- 2. <u>Reporting and Protective Measures:</u> Concerns by bargaining unit members surrounding matters of health and safety should be promptly raised to District administration.

District representatives shall attend to the situation within a reasonable timeframe, based on the severity of the issue, and report the steps being taken to resolve the issue. For example, if it is determined that necessary personal protective equipment or protective measures are needed in a particular situation then it should be dealt with right away. If the resolution of such concern may involve a modification of working conditions or change in work location, the District and Association will meet to discuss the steps taken to resolve the matter.

- 3. <u>Discipline Support:</u> Staff who are acting within the appropriate and approved scope of their employment responsibilities with respect to maintain control and discipline of students shall be given support and assistance by the District. Continued effort will be made to assure staff that they can provide student support and other services with a minimum of disruption and abuse, physical or verbal, in an appropriate learning environment.
- 4. <u>CPI Training:</u> Paraprofessional members may protect themselves or another person from attack, physical abuse, or injury using appropriate Crisis Prevention/Intervention (CPI) techniques. Appropriate professional development, including de-escalation training, shall be provided upon hire or as soon as possible, and annually to all paraprofessionals.

ARTICLE 19 - RATES FOR NEW JOBS

The Board of Education will have the right to establish new positions in the bargaining unit as may be required. The employer and the union shall meet to negotiate wages, hours, terms, and conditions of employment.

ARTICLE 20 - DEFINITIONS

A. Temporary Employees

Temporary employees (those hired for a period of sixty (60) working days or less) are not part of the bargaining unit and are not covered by any of the provisions of this Agreement. Any employee hired on a temporary basis, but who works more than sixty (60) consecutive working days, shall be considered to be a regular employee and shall be covered by the provisions of the Agreement.

B. Substitute Employees

Any temporary employee hired to substitute for a regular employee who is on a compensable sick leave shall be allowed to exceed the sixty (60) consecutive workday limit only as a replacement for the regular employee. This does not apply to temporary employees hired as additional temporary help.

ARTICLE 21 - MILEAGE

- A. Employees required to use their personal vehicles as a necessary part of the job shall be paid the current IRS rate. To qualify for mileage payment, the employee must submit a mileage sheet in accordance with the established district procedures.
- B. In the event the monthly mileage is less than fifty (50) miles per month, the mileage sheet shall be held by the employee until the end of the month in which fifty (50) miles have been accumulated.

ARTICLE 22 – WAGES

A. Salary

Non-Instructional Wage			
Step	24-25	25-26	26-27
1	13.25	13.25	13.25
2	14.25	14.25	14.25
3	15.25	15.25	15.25
4	16.25	16.25	16.25
5	17.25	17.25	17.25
6	18.25	18.25	18.25
7	19.25	19.25	19.25
8	20.25	20.25	20.25
9	21.25	21.25	21.25
10		22.25	22.25
11			23.25

Instructional Wage			
Step	24-25	25-26	26-27
1	15.50	15.65	15.80
2	16.50	16.65	16.80
3	17.50	17.65	17.80
4	18.50	18.65	18.80
5	19.50	19.65	19.80
6	20.50	20.65	20.80
7	21.50	21.65	21.80
8	22.50	22.65	22.80
9	23.50	23.65	23.80
10		24.65	24.80
11			25.80

Special Education Wage			
Step	24-25	25-26	26-27
1	18.00	18.15	18.30
2	19.00	19.15	19.30
3	20.00	20.15	20.30
4	21.00	21.15	21.30
5	22.00	22.15	22.30
6	23.00	23.15	23.30
7	24.00	24.15	24.30
8	25.00	25.15	25.30
9	26.00	26.15	26.30
10		27.15	27.30
11			28.30

B. Determination of Salary Schedule and Classification

Paraprofessional positions are designated into one of the three salary schedules. The salary schedule will be determined based on the following definitions:

General Education Positions

Paraprofessional positions with the following main responsibilities:

- Maintain safety and monitoring in the lunchrooms, on the playground, or in other school settings
- Functioning as health care aides, or other responsibilities of non-instructional support for the students
- Supervising before and after school programs and non-instructional periods (e.g., study hall periods not counted as part of the required minimum number of hours of pupil instruction as required by section 101 of the State School Aid Act, MCL 388.1701.)

Instructional Positions

Paraprofessional positions with the following main responsibilities:

- Assisting in the development of instructional and related materials, performance, or clerical tasks
- Complementing instructional activities, such as assisting the teacher during the lesson by helping students who may need additional support with instruction
- Supplementing instruction by assisting the teacher with individuals or small groups of pupils on follow-up activities as specified
- Reinforcing instruction by assisting the teacher in administering drill activities for individuals or small groups
- Perform supplemental clerical work in a school office setting
- Media Center Paraprofessionals

Special Education Positions

Paraprofessional positions with the following main responsibilities:

- Prep/SEED paraprofessionals
- Paraprofessional positions supporting individual students' IEP or classrooms with multiple students with IEPs.

If multiple paraprofessionals sharing the same job title desire to seek a classification review, the request shall be brought to the Association. If the Association agrees, the Association will bring the appeal to the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources. The District and Association will meet to review and decide the appeal within 10 working days.

C. Increments and Experience Credit

Any applicable step increase or longevity pay will be given on July 1. Employees hired on or after February 1 are not eligible for a step increase until the following July of the next calendar year. For example, if hired in February of 2024, step increase would occur July 1, 2025.

Step progressions will be given during the duration of this agreement.

D. Additional Education Pay

For those individuals who have an Associate's Degree, or sixty semester hours with a C average or better, an additional \$.45/hour will be granted upon request. Such request shall be by submission of transcripts. Those individuals who hold a Bachelor's Degree from an accredited institution of higher learning will be eligible for an additional \$.60/hour upon request. Such request shall be made in writing and must be verified by submission of transcripts. This is already built into the salary schedule.

This increase begins in the 2025-26 school year.

E. Tuition and Professional Development Reimbursement

Reimbursement for tuition and books will be provided for those individuals required or approved to attend professional development or school. The coursework for school must be completed with a grade of "B" or better. Proof of attendance at the professional development must be provided. Reimbursement is subject to the course work or professional development being directly related to the individual's current assignment and having written approval prior to enrollment from the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations. The total annual reimbursement for the entire bargaining unit will not exceed \$2,500.

Application and supporting information for tuition reimbursement shall be filed with the Human Resources Department by June 30 of each year. Contingent on the total reimbursement requested, there may be a proration.

F. Substitute Teaching

In the event an eligible (holds a teaching certificate or a substitute permit) paraeducator is assigned to perform substitute teaching services during the course of the workday, the employee will be paid an additional \$10 per hour for each hour substituting for a teacher. This hourly rate shall be above and beyond their regular hourly rate. The decision to place an eligible paraeducator in a substitute teaching position is that of the building administrator. The following procedures shall guide paraprofessional substitute teaching:

- Every effort will be made by an administrator to find a qualified substitute teacher, building substitute, or certified teacher to cover a class before a paraprofessional would be assigned to act as a substitute.
- The classroom teacher is briefly absent or called away for a meeting (ex. IEP meeting) that lasts for at least an hour.

- A teacher absence of more than a half day cannot be covered by a paraprofessional unless they hold a substitute permit or valid teaching certificate.
- The building administrator has approved the temporary substitute coverage by a paraprofessional after being informed by a teacher of the need for coverage.
- In cases when the teacher's absence from the classroom goes beyond the expected period, or over an hour, a paraprofessional may need to act as a substitute before administrative approval can be made. A paraprofessional, teacher, and/or administrator may make arrangements for such contingencies in advance.
- The paraprofessional must submit the appropriate payroll form indicating the date and time period in which they served as a temporary substitute.

G. Personal Electronic Device

The district will make every effort to provide a district device to paraeducators who are required to communicate through district sanctioned technology and associated applications as part of the job duties. If a staff member does use their own device for such communication, then under no circumstances will the employer require or demand access to an employee's personal device based upon their participation in those responsibilities.

ARTICLE 23 - EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

A. Addendum to Contract

The School Board and the union mutually agree that the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement represent the full and complete understanding and commitment between the parties hereto which may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from, or modified only through the voluntary, mutual consent of the School Board and the Union in an amendment hereto which shall be ratified and signed by both parties.

B. Conformity to Law

This Agreement is subject in all respects to the laws of the state of Michigan with respect to the powers, rights, duties, and obligations of the Employer, the Union, and the employees in the bargaining unit, and in the event that any provision of this Agreement shall at any time be held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction from whose final judgment or decree no appeal has been taken with the time provided for doing so, such provision shall be void and inoperative; however, all other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in effect.

ARTICLE 24 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective as of July 22, 2024 and shall continue in full force and effect, as amended, until June 30, 2027. The Agreement shall not be extended orally, and it is expressly understood that it shall expire on the date set forth above unless mutually agreed to, in writing, by both parties. The parties shall commence negotiations for a successor agreement at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement.

<u>ARTICLE 25 – EMERGENCY MANAGER & NON-INSTRUCTIONAL ATTRITION</u>

A. Emergency Manager PERA Requirement

"Section 15 (7) of the Public Employment Relations Act (PERA) mandates that any contract entered into include a statement that allows an Emergency Manager appointed under the Local Government and School District Fiscal Accountability Act to reject, modify, or terminate the collective bargaining agreement as

provided in the Local Government and School District Fiscal Accountability Act. This provision is intended to satisfy this requirement. No grievances may be processed contesting actions taken by an Emergency Manager."

B. Non-Instructional Attrition and Future Non-Instructional Hires

The parties agree that effective with the ratification of this Agreement, the Employer may hire all future non-instructional positions (noon-aides, hall monitors) through a third-party contractual provider. All current non-instructional bargaining unit members are "grandfathered" into this Agreement and shall maintain contractual rights and benefits under this Agreement for the duration of their employment with the District in these non-industrial classifications.

APPENDIX A

The following categories are those established for all staffing as it concerns transfer, layoff, and recall.

Category I - Elementary, Middle School, and High School including kindergarten, general education classroom, GERT, elementary media/science/computer, noon supervisor, office, computer, physical education, media center, and farm.

Category II - Middle School and High School including parking lot, audiovisual, hall monitor, career center, and attendance.

Category III - Elementary, Middle School and High School positions in the hearing impaired program.

Category IV – Special Education positions (Preschool, Elementary, Middle School, and High School – excluding positions in the Deaf & Hard of Hearing program and positions in self contained classrooms.

Category V - Special Education positions in self-contained classrooms.

Category VI - Bilingual ESL paraeducators which have a bilingual requirement.

APPENDIX B

Current Summary Plan Descriptions are available for review at bloomfield.org

APPENDIX C

Regulation 4400.1

Family and Medical Leave Act Regulation

1. <u>PURPOSE</u>

Basic Leave Entitlement. Bloomfield Hills Schools Family and Medical Leave Policy allows eligible employees to take up to 12 work weeks of unpaid leave per year for their own serious health condition, childbirth, or to provide care for the employee's newborn child, newly-adopted child, newly-placed foster child, or a child, parent or spouse with a serious health condition. Further, certain eligible employees may receive up to 12 work weeks of unpaid leave for military exigencies, and up to a total of 26 work weeks of unpaid leave to care for a covered military service member.

Additional information and forms relating to Family and Medical Leaves are available from the Human Resources Department.

2. <u>DEFINITIONS</u>

A. "Leave Year". The District has selected the following method for determining the "12-month period" for non-military related leave

The 12-month rolling backwards period. The 12-month rolling period is calculated backwards from the date the requested leave commences. This method determines FMLA leave entitlement based upon how much FMLA leave an employee has taken the preceding 12 months, measured backwards from the date the leave is to commence.

For "Military Caregiver Leave," the leave period begins the first day the leave begins, regardless of past non-military leave taken and regardless of the leave period for other FMLA qualifying leave.

- B. "Spouse" means a husband or wife but does not include unmarried domestic partners. If both spouses work for the school district, their total leave in any 12-month period may be limited to an aggregate of 12-weeks if the leave is taken for either the birth or placement for adoption or foster care of a child or to care for a sick parent. The aggregated amount of leave in a 12-month period is 26 weeks in situations where the leave is based on the care for a covered service member.
- C. "*Parent*" means biological, adoptive, step or foster parent, or any other individual who stood *in loco parentis* to the employee when the employee was a child. A parent-in-law does not meet this definition.
- D. "*Child*" means a son or daughter under age 18, or 18 years or older who is incapable of self-care due to mental or physical disability. Employees who are *in loco parentis* include those with day-to-day responsibility for care and financially supports the "child". A biological or legal relationship is not necessary.

"Incapable of self-care due to a mental or physical disability" means when an adult son or daughter "requires active assistance or supervision to provide daily self-care in three or more of the 'activities of daily living' or 'instrumental activities of daily living'." A parent will be entitled to take FMLA leave to care for a son or daughter 18 years of age or older if the adult son or daughter meets the following four requirements:

- 1. Has a disability as defined by the ADA;
- 2. Is incapable of self-care due to that disability;
- 3. Has a serious health condition; and
- 4. Is in need of care due to the serious health condition
- E. "Next of Kin of a Covered Service Member" means the nearest blood relative other than a spouse, parent, son, or daughter, in the following order: blood relatives who have been granted legal custody of the covered service member by court decree or statutory provision, brother and sister, grandparent, aunt and uncle, and first cousin, unless the covered service member designated in writing another blood family member as his or her nearest blood relative for purposes of military caregiver leave.
- F. "Military Family Leave" means either "Military Caregiver Leave" or "Qualifying Exigency" Leave as set forth below:
 - (1) "Military Caregiver Leave." An eligible employee may take up to 26 weeks of leave to care for a covered service member during a single 12-month period. The covered service member must be a current member of the Armed Forces, which includes membership in the National Guard or Reserves. The covered service member must have sustained the serious injury or illness in the line of duty while on active duty which may render the service member medically unfit to perform his or her duties for which the service member is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy; or is in outpatient status; or is on the temporary disability retired list.
 - "Qualifying Exigency Leave." An eligible employee with a spouse, son, daughter, or parent on active duty or call to active duty status in the National Guard or Reserves in support of a contingency operation may also use their 12-week leave entitlement to address certain qualifying exigencies. The Department of Labor defines qualifying exigencies as: (1) short-notice deployment (up to seven days from date of notification), (2) military events and related activities, (3) childcare and school activities, (4) financial and legal arrangements, (5) counseling, (6) rest and recuperation (up to five days for each instance), (7) post-deployment activities occurring within 90 days following the termination of active duty status, and (8) additional activities arising from the service member's active duty or call to active duty not encompassed in the other categories, but agreed to by the employer and employee.

- G. "Serious Health Condition" means an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that makes the employee unable to perform the essential functions of his/her job and involves:
 - (1) inpatient care (an overnight stay);
 - (2) a period of incapacity from work requiring "continuing treatment" by a healthcare provider;
 - "Continuing treatment" by a healthcare provider must involve a period of incapacity of more than 3 *full* consecutive calendar days (including subsequent treatments or periods of incapacity relating to the same condition) that also involves either: (1) treatment of two or more times within 30 days of the first day of incapacity by a healthcare provider; or (2) treatment on at least one occasion by a healthcare provider which results in a "regimen of continuing treatment under the supervision of the a healthcare provider." (*e.g.*, a course of prescription drugs, physical therapy). The first (or only) in-person treatment visit to the healthcare provider must occur within 7 days of the first day of incapacity.
 - (3) a period of incapacity from work due to pregnancy or for prenatal care;
 - (4) a period of incapacity from work requiring treatment for chronic or permanent/long-term conditions (e.g., asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, cancer); or
 - (5) a period of absence to receive multiple treatments by a healthcare provider for a non-chronic condition that, if left untreated, could result in a period of incapacity of more than 3 consecutive calendar days (e.g., dialysis for kidney disease or chemotherapy for cancer).

Unless complications arise, the common cold, flu, upset stomach, headache, routine dental problems, and cosmetic treatments do not meet the definition of "serious health condition."

Please contact the Human Resources Department for a more complete definition of "serious health condition."

- H. "Instructional Employee" means a person whose principle function is to teach and instruct students in a class, a small group, or an individual setting. This term includes teachers or auxiliary personnel principally engaged in direct delivery of instruction (e.g., signers for hearing impaired). This definition does not include auxiliary personnel such as counselors, teacher assistants, aides, psychologists, social workers, and non-instructional support personnel.
- I. "*District*" means the Bloomfield Hills Schools. This regulation shall be implemented by the Superintendent or his/her designee.

3. GENERAL

A. *Eligibility*. An employee who has worked at least 1,250 hours during the 12-month period before commencement of the leave is eligible for FMLA leave after having completed at least 12 months

of service, including previous service with the District up to 7 years before commencement of the leave. Instructional employees will not be eligible if it is clearly demonstrated that the employee did not work the requisite hours during the 12-month period.

- B. Eligible employees may use FMLA leave for one or more of the following reasons:
 - (1) The birth of a child and care for a newborn;
 - (2) The care for a newly-adopted child or child recently placed in an employee's home for foster care:
 - (3) To care for a spouse, child (who is less than age 18, or 18 but incapable of self-care) or a parent (but not parent-in-law) who has a serious health condition;
 - (4) An employee's own serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform one or more of the essential functions of his or her job; or
 - (5) To address certain qualifying exigencies or caregiving associated with a covered service member. The employee may be required to provide information supporting the need for military family leave.
- C. An eligible employee may take up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave during any 12-month period for a purpose which qualifies for a leave under the FMLA policy. As identified in Section 2.F.(1)., an eligible employee may take up to 26 weeks "Military Caregiver Leave" measured from the first day the military-related leave commences during a single 12-month period.

An eligible part-time employee is entitled to leave on a pro-rata basis.

If spouses are both employed by the District and both are eligible for FMLA leave, spouses may take up to a combined total of 12 weeks of leave for the birth and care of a newborn child, the placement of a child in the spouse's home for adoption or foster care, or the care of a seriously ill parent. This limitation does not apply to the care of a spouse or child with a serious health condition or to the employee's own serious health condition. For example, if spouses each take 4 weeks to care for a newborn child, each spouse will have eight weeks remaining within the 12-month period to use for other kinds of FMLA leaves, if necessary.

Family leave to care for a newborn child or for adoption or foster care placement of a child must be completed within 12 months of the birth, adoption, or placement of the child.

4. NOTICE

- A. *Notice by Employee*. The employee shall give notice for FMLA leave according to the following:
 - (1) When the need for FMLA is *foreseeable* (*i.e.*, for birth of a child, adoption, foster placement, or planned medical treatment for yourself or a family member or to care for a covered service member) 30-days notice is required. If the employee fails to give 30-days notice with no reasonable excuse, the District reserves the right to delay the employee's

FMLA leave until at least 30-days after the leave request is made.

(2) When the need for FMLA leave is *unexpected*, absent unusual circumstances, the employee must provide notice to the Employer either the same business day or the next business day after the employee learns of the need for the FMLA leave.

With respect to both foreseeable and unexpected leave, employees must comply with District policies, work rules, collective bargaining provisions, and customary time off or call-in notice procedures.

At the time of requesting leave from work, the employee is required to complete District-approved forms for leave utilization. The District will provide District-approved forms which advise the employee of his/her FMLA rights and responsibilities. When any leave from work is requested, the District will inquire about the circumstances to determine if the requested leave appears to qualify as FMLA leave. Any leave request determined by the District to qualify as FMLA leave will be credited against the employee's FMLA leave for the 12-month period described in Section 2.A. of this policy.

B. **District Notification of FMLA Leave.** Once the District receives sufficient notice that leave qualifies for FMLA leave, the District will (within 5 business days, absent extenuating circumstances) notify the employee, in writing, whether the employee is eligible for leave.

5. <u>SUBSTITUTION OF PAID LEAVE TIME</u>

Although FMLA leave is **unpaid**, there are several ways in which the District's policies or collective bargaining agreement (regarding salary continuation, sick days, and vacation pay) may operate in conjunction with certain kinds of FMLA leaves to provide the employee with some income during the leave. If paid leave is available, and applicable, it shall run concurrently with the FMLA leave.

• Use of earned and/or accrued paid time off. When leave from work qualifies as FMLA leave is taken, an employee must first concurrently exhaust earned and/or accrued paid time off which will be credited against the FMLA leave. For example, if an employee has earned and/or accrued paid vacation or personal leave, the District may require that the employee first concurrently apply that leave time to his/her FMLA leave until the earned or accrued paid leave time is exhausted. The District may also require that any earned or accrued paid vacation or personal/sick leave be exhausted concurrently with the FMLA leave before the unpaid portion of the FMLA leave to care for the employee's own serious health condition or that of a spouse, child or parent (where permitted for the latter purpose under the contract or policy governing the employee). Any remaining FMLA leave to which the employee is entitled will then be taken on an unpaid basis.

6. <u>MEDICAL CERTIFICATION</u>

A. If an employee requests FMLA leave due to a serious health condition or to care for a parent, child, or spouse with a serious health condition, or to attend to specific matters concerning covered service member, the employee may be required to provide medical certification from a healthcare provider of the serious health condition involved and, if applicable, verification that the employee is needed to care for the ill family member and for how long.

- B. The employee may be required to provide supporting information concerning military family leave. Forms for this purpose will be provided by the Administration when the employee notifies the District of the need for the leave. Employees must provide the requested medical certification within 15 days of being supplied with the necessary certification form from the Administration or a request for FMLA leave may be delayed or denied.
- C. After an employee submits the required medical certification, the District may require, at its option and expense that a medical certification be obtained from a healthcare provider of the District's own choosing to verify the need for the requested FMLA leave. If the first and second certifications differ, the District may require (at its option and expense) that a third certification be obtained from a third healthcare provider who is jointly selected by the prior two healthcare providers. The third medical certification will be final and binding on both parties. If the employee refuses to be examined by the third healthcare provider or refuses to cooperate in the examination, the employee will be bound by the second certification.
- D. The District may request medical recertification for leave taken because of an employee's own serious medical condition or the serious medical condition of a family member. Recertification may be requested pursuant to the following:
 - (1) The District may request recertification no more often than every 30 days and only in connection with the absence by the employee unless paragraphs 2 or 3 below apply.
 - (2) If the initial medical certification indicates that the minimum duration of the condition is more than 30 days, the District will wait until the minimum duration expires or 6 months, whichever is less, before requesting a recertification, unless paragraph 3 applies.
 - (3) The District may request recertification in less than 30 days if: (a) an employee requests an extension of leave; (b) circumstances described by the previous certification have changed significantly; or (c) the District receives information that cast doubt upon the employee's stated reason for the absence or the continuing validity of the certification.

The employee must provide the requested recertification to the District within 15 calendar days unless it is not practicable under the particular circumstances to do so despite the employee's diligent good faith efforts. The District may ask for the same information as that permitted for the original certification. The employee has the same obligations to participate and cooperate in the recertification process as in the initial certification process. Any recertification requested by the employer shall be at the employee's expense.

7. <u>INTERMITTENT/REDUCED LEAVE SCHEDULE</u>

A. If an employee requests intermittent leave or a reduced leave schedule, the District may require the employee to explain why the intermittent/reduced leave schedule is necessary. An employee must meet with the District and attempt to work out a leave schedule which meets the employee's needs for leave without unduly disrupting the District's operations. The employee should meet with the District before treatment is scheduled. If the meeting takes place after treatment has been scheduled, the District may, in certain instances, require an employee to attempt to reschedule

treatment.

- B. The District may assign an employee to an alternative position with equivalent pay and benefits, but not necessarily equivalent job duties that better accommodate the employee's intermittent or reduced leave schedule. The District may also transfer the employee to a part-time job with the same rate of pay and benefits. A "light-duty" assignment, however, will not be considered FMLA leave. Where benefits (*e.g.*, vacation) are based on the number of hours worked, the employee will receive appropriate benefits, based upon hours worked. When a transfer to a part-time position has been made to accommodate an intermittent or reduced-leave schedule, the District will continue group health benefits on the same basis as provided for full-time employees until the 12 (or 26 weeks for the care of a covered service member) weeks of FMLA leave are used.
- C. An intermittent and/or reduced leave schedule is available for an eligible employee to attend to a serious health condition requiring periodic treatment by a healthcare provider, or because the employee (or family member) is incapacitated due to a chronic serious health condition. An employee on pregnancy leave (unless a serious health condition is involved) or leave for care of an adopted, foster, or newborn child is not eligible for intermittent leave.
- D. If an eligible instructional employee requests intermittent or a reduced leave schedule to care for a family member having a serious health condition, or for the employee's own serious health condition, which is foreseeable based on planned medical treatment, and the instructional employee would be on leave for more than 20% of the total number of working days over the leave period, the District may require the instructional employee to choose either to:
 - (1) take leave for a period or periods of a particular duration, not greater than the duration of the planned treatment; or
 - (2) transfer temporarily to an available alternative position for which the instructional employee is qualified, which has equivalent pay and benefits, and which better accommodates recurring leave periods than does the instructional employee's regular assignment.

8. BENEFITS

- A. During the period of an approved FMLA leave, the District will continue the employee's health insurance premium uninterrupted. If the employee makes a contribution toward coverage, the employee must make arrangements to continue his or her contributions during the leave to continue the basic health insurance coverage at its existing level. An employee's failure to pay his or her share of health insurance premium during FMLA leave may result in loss of coverage if the employee's contribution is more than 30 days late. If the employee's premiums are in arrears, the District will provide the employee at least 15 days' written notice that coverage will be dropped prior to canceling coverage.
 - (1) Except as required under COBRA, the District's obligation to maintain health benefit premium contributions for an employee on FMLA leave ceases when: a) the employment relationship would have terminated, irrespective of the FMLA leave (e.g., reduction in force); b) when the employee advises the District of his or her intent not to return from

leave; or c) when the FMLA leave expires and the employee has not returned from leave.

- (2) Employee contributions will be required either through payroll deduction or by direct payment to the District. The employee will be advised in writing at the beginning of the leave as to the amount and method of payment. Employee contribution amounts are subject to any change in premium rates that occur while the employee is on leave.
- (3) If the District remits any employee premium contributions in arrears from the employee while on FMLA leave, the employee will be required to reimburse the District for delinquent payments (through authorized payroll deduction or otherwise) upon return from leave. If the employee fails to return from unpaid leave for reasons other than: a) the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition of the employee or a covered family member, or b) circumstances beyond the employee's control, the District may seek reimbursement from the employee for the portion of the premiums paid by the District on behalf of that employee (also known as the "employer contribution") during the leave period, excluding the period where the District or the employee has substituted paid leave for FMLA leave.
- (4) An employee is not entitled to seniority or benefits accrual (e.g., holidays, vacations) during the unpaid leave unless otherwise specified by the collective bargaining agreement or individual employment contract. An employee who takes FMLA leave will not lose any seniority or employment benefits that accrued before the date leave began.

B. Disability Plans and FMLA Leave:

- (1) **Workers' Compensation Leave.** If the employee has a work-related illness or injury that qualifies as a "serious health condition" under this policy, leave from the job for which the employee receives workers' compensation payments will be considered FMLA leave. The employer and employee may agree to have paid leave supplement worker's compensation benefits, *i.e.*, where worker's disability compensation benefits provide replacement income for only a portion of the employee's salary.
- (2) **Disability Plan Leave.** The District may designate any employer-sponsored disability plan leave as FMLA leave.

9. RETURN TO WORK

A. Upon conclusion of FMLA leave, an employee will be returned to the same position the employee held when leave began or to an equivalent position with equivalent benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment, provided the position remains.

B. Periods Near the Conclusion of an Academic Team

1. <u>Leave five weeks before end of term:</u> An instructional employee who begins a leave more than five weeks before the end of an academic term (semester) may be required to continue on leave until the end of the term if the leave will last at least three weeks, and the return to work would occur within the last three weeks of the term.

- 2. Leave five weeks before the end of term for reasons other than employee's serious health condition: An instructional employee who begins a leave for a purpose other than his/her own serious health condition during the five-week period before the end of a term may be required to continue on leave until the end of the term if the leave will last more than two weeks, and the return to work would occur within the last two weeks of the term.
- 3. Leave three weeks before end of term for reasons other than employee's serious health condition: An instructional employee who begins a leave for a purpose other than his/her own serious health condition during the three-week period before the end of the term and the duration of the leave is more than five working days may be required to continue on leave until the end of the term.
- C. *Fitness-for-Duty Certification*. An employee shall submit a written statement from a physician which addresses the employee's ability to return to work and perform the essential functions of the position, consistent with District policy or collective bargaining agreement at least one (1) day prior to the scheduled return. In the case of intermittent or reduced schedule leave, where reasonable job safety concerns exist, the District may require the employee to provide a fitness-for-duty certification up to once every 30 days before he or she may return to work.

10. <u>KEY EMPLOYEES</u>

- A. **Definition.** A "key" employee is an eligible salaried FMLA-eligible employee who is among the highest paid 10% of District employees.
- B. **Job Restoration.** While the District will not deny FMLA leave to an eligible key employee, the District may deny job restoration to a key employee when the restoration to employment will cause the District substantial and grievous economic injury or substantial, long-term economic injury.
- C. **Qualifications.** Each employee who is designated as a "key" employee will be notified of that fact when he/she requests FMLA leave, or at the commencement of such leave, whichever occurs first; or if the notice cannot be given then because of the need to determine whether the employee is a key employee, as soon thereafter as practical.
 - In any situation in which the District determines that it will deny restoration or employment to a key employee, the District will issue a hand-delivered or certified letter to the key employee explaining the finding that the required injury to the District exists. Additionally, the District will inform the key employee of the potential consequences with respect to reinstatement and maintenance of health benefits should employment restoration be denied. When practical, the District will communicate this determination before the commencement of the FMLA leave; the key employee may then take FMLA leave or forego it. If the FMLA leave has already begun, the key employee will be provided a reasonable time in which to return to work after being notified of the District's intention the decision cannot be made until the employee seeks to return to deny reinstatement.
- D. **Timelines.** If a key employee does not return to work in response to the District's notification of its decision to deny restoration of employment, the District will continue to provide the key

employee with health benefits (to the extent of the FMLA leave period) and the District will not seek to recover its cost of health benefit premiums. A key employee's FMLA rights will continue until the employee gives notice that he/she no longer wishes to return to work or until the District denies reinstatement at the end of the leave. The key employee has the right, at the end of the FMLA leave, to request reinstatement and the District will reevaluate the extent of its injury due to the requested reinstatement based on the facts at that time.

If the District again determines that the reinstatement will still cause the injury, the key employee will be notified in writing by hand-delivered or certified letter of the denial of his/her reinstatement to employment. If the District finds that reinstatement will not result in the required injury, the key employee will be granted reinstatement.

11. FAILURE TO RETURN FROM LEAVE

An employee's failure to return to work upon expiration of FMLA leave will subject the employee to termination unless an extension is granted, as required by law or under a collective bargaining agreement. An employee who requests an extension of FMLA leave due to the continuation, recurrence, or onset of her or his own serious health condition, or of the serious health condition of the employee's spouse, child, or parent, must submit a written request for an extension to the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources and Labor Relations. This written request should be made as soon as the employee realizes that she or he will not be able to return at the expiration of the leave period. Medical certification or recertification will be required to support any request for leave extension.

12. FORMS

The following forms, where applicable, must be filed with the Administration in accord with District policies and procedures:

WH-380-E Certification of Health Care Provider for Employee's Serious Health Condition

WH-380-F Certification of Health Care Provider for Family Member's Serious Health Condition

WH-381 Notice of Eligibility and Rights & Responsibilities

WH-382 Designation Notice

WH-384 Certification of Qualifying Exigency For Military Family Leave

WH-385 Certification for Serious Injury or Illness of Covered Service Member For Military Family Leave

WH-385-V Certification for Serious Injury or Illness of a Veteran for Military Caregiver Leave

Legal Authority: Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 USC § 2601 et. seq.; Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 USC § 12101, et. seq.

Date Adopted: April 24, 2009 Revised: March 15, 2013

LETTER OF AGREEMENT Between Bloomfield Hills Schools And

Bloomfield Hills Office Personnel and Paraprofessional Association Information Sharing

This agreement is entered into by and between the Board of Education of the Bloomfield Hills Schools (BHS) and the Bloomfield Hills Office Personnel and Paraprofessional Association.

Per Public Act 236 of 2023 both parties agree to the following to be added to the CBA

- A. At least once a month, designated Association representatives will be given, via e-mail and attached excel document, a complete listing of all bargaining unit staff that includes the following:
 - 1. First, middle and last name.
 - 2. Start date of employment in current bargaining unit.
 - 3. Building(s) assigned.
 - 4. Name of position(s) assigned with classification(s).
 - 5. Hourly pay rate and number of regular hours worked weekly along with number of days worked per year (exclusive of "extra runs", summer school, any other non-regular school day/school year pay that is not guaranteed by contract).
 - 6. Employee identification number (if applicable).
 - 7. Work email address and personal email address.
 - 8. Home mailing address.
 - 9. Home and cell phone number.
- B. The above-listed information shall be provided via email in an attached Excel template format provided by the Association.
- C. **New Hires**: Designated Association representatives shall be given, via an attached excel document, the same information detailed in Section A above within ten (10) business days of any new hires of bargaining unit members that occur throughout the year.
- D. **Terminations**: Termination of employment by any bargaining unit member shall be reported to the designated Association representatives, including the termination date, via e-mail no later than ten (10) business days after the member's last day of employment.
- E. Layoff or Leave: Notification of any bargaining unit member placed on layoff or leave of absence (paid or unpaid) lasting more than ten (10) workdays shall be reported to the designated Association representatives via e-mail no later than ten (10) workdays after the first day of leave. Notification of any bargaining unit member returning from a layoff or leave of absence (paid or unpaid) shall be reported to the designated Association representatives via e-mail no later than five (10) workdays after the first day of return.

For the District	For the Association
Date	Date

Between Bloomfield Hills Schools And

Bloomfield Hills Office Personnel and Paraprofessional Association Non-Instructional Attrition and Future Non-Instructional Hires

This agreement is entered into by and between the Board of Education of the Bloomfield Hills Schools (BHS) and the Bloomfield Hills Office Personnel and Paraprofessional Association.

In mutual consent, the parties agree to the following:

- 1. Effective with the ratification of this Agreement, the Employer may hire all future non-instructional noon aides and hall monitors, through a third party contractual provider.
- 2. All current non-instructional bargaining unit members are "grandfathered" into the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) and shall maintain contractual rights and benefits under the CBA for the duration of their employment in these non-instructional classifications.
- 3. Should the district decide to contract a private security firm to oversee hall monitors and grandfathered eligible members of the Association remained employed in this role, the Association shall retain the right to bargain all changes in working conditions, pay and benefits.

For the District	For the Association
Date	Date

LETTER OF AGREEMENT Between Bloomfield Hills Schools And

Bloomfield Hills Office Personnel and Paraprofessional Association Establish a Committee to Determine Full-Time Employment Hours

This agreement is entered into by and between the Board of Education of the Bloomfield Hills Schools (BHS) and the Bloomfield Hills Office Personnel and Paraprofessional Association.

Whereas various schools and classifications of paraprofessionals have widely different working hours in determining full-time employment;

And whereas both parties expressed an interest during negotiations in addressing this issue but believed doing so for the 2024-25 school year would not be practical and fair to all employees;

Therefore, in mutual consent, the parties agree to the following:

- 1. By October 30th, the parties shall establish a committee made up of an equal number of paraprofessional employees and administrators to discuss and determine the working hours constituting full-time employment for each level and/or para job classification in BHS.
- 2. The committee shall meet as needed and render a recommendation regarding #1 by January 31, 2025.
- 3. The recommendation of the committee shall be considered by the appropriate representative groups of both parties and if mutually agreed to shall be implemented for the 2025-26 school year.
- 4. Communication of the new full-time working hour shall be communicated to paraprofessional employees no later than March 1, 2025.
- 5. Extensions may be made to the above timeline with mutual agreement of both parties.

For the District	For the Association
Date	Date